THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE
SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Appellate Panel
Melody James, Susan Barden, Aisha Taylor

SCWCC File No. 0715651
Appellate Case No. 2017-000753

Donnie Lowe, Employee, Claimant, Appellant,
v.
BMW Manufacturing Corporation, Employer, and Hartford Ins. Co. of the
Midwest, c/o Sedgewick Claims Management Services, Inc., Carrier, Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Mitchell K. Byrd, Jr., Esq. SC BAR NO. 72543
mitchell@thecarolinallawgroup.com
THE CAROLINA LAW GROUP, LLC
910 E. Washington Street
Greenville, South Carolina 29601
(864) 312-4444
(864) 312-4447 (fax)
Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. WAS IT AN ERROR OF LAW FOR THE SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION TO DISMISS APPELLANT'S CHANGE OF CONDITION FOR THE WORSE CLAIM ON GROUNDS THAT SUCH CLAIM WAS FILED OUTSIDE OF THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Donnie Lowe ("Lowe") suffered a work related injury to his low back on October 2, 2007. It was an accepted claim and benefits were paid by the workers' compensation carrier. Lowe did not reach maximum medical improvement until January 6, 2011, over three years from the date of his injury. After a hearing on the matter, Commissioner T. Scott Beck found that, as a result of his low back injury of October 7, 2007, Lowe suffered a 35% impairment to his spine, with effect to the right lower extremity, and awarded Lowe continued medical care and treatment with Dr. James Behr. (See R. p. 15-28) Dr. Behr still medically treats Lowe to this day.

Following the Hearing Commissioner's award, and within the one year time frame following the last payment of compensation¹, Lowe timely filed a workers' compensation Form 50 with medical documentation attached² on July 3, 2013. (R. p. 36) He alleged that he had suffered a change of condition for the worse and sought additional medical care and treatment³. Lowe requested a hearing with the Workers' Compensation Commission. (R. p. 36) However, prior to the hearing date, Lowe withdrew his hearing request as a matter of right, with leave to renew, pursuant to S.C. Workers' Compensation Regulation 67-609.

¹ See S.C. Code Ann. § 42-17-90(A)(2010), which sets forth the one year statute of limitations for change of condition claims. Commissioner Beck's award was paid to Lowe on October 3, 2012. (See R. p. 44)

² See S.C. Workers' Compensation Regulation 67-602 (1992), regarding the requirement of medical documentation indicating a change of condition and also authorizing the admission of additional experts reports at the hearing.

³ Lowe alleged in the alternative that he was permanently and totally disabled.

Lowe subsequently re-filed his Form 50 Request For Hearing on September 3, 2015, again with medical documentation attached. (R. p. 29)

The case was set for hearing and tried before Commissioner Mike Campbell on December 10, 2015. (See R. p. 45-77) Lowe argued that his claim for a change of condition for the worse was timely, as his initial Form 50 Request For Hearing was filed on July 3, 2013, within the one year time period following the last payment of compensation. However, Respondents took the position that Lowe's claim was untimely filed and outside of the one year statute of limitations for change of condition claims. Respondents asserted that Claimant's timely filed Form 50 of July 3, 2013 did not toll the statute of limitations and that Lowe's subsequent Form 50 Request For Hearing of September 3, 2015 was filed outside of the one year statute of limitations, thus barring his claim for a change of condition for the worse. (See generally R. p. 45-77)

Commissioner Campbell dismissed Lowe's change of condition for the worse claim. Commissioner Campbell concluded that Lowe's change of condition claim was not timely filed and thus barred by the statute of limitations set forth in S.C. Code Ann. § 42-17-90(A)(2010) because Lowe's Form 50 Request For Hearing of September 3, 2015 was filed outside of the one year statute of limitations despite Lowe having already timely filed a Form 50 Request For Hearing previously on July 3, 2013. (See R. p. 8-14) The Appellate Panel affirmed. (See R. p. 15-28) This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The facts of this case that come to bear on this appeal are straightforward. Lowe had an MRI scan of his low back in February 2010 as part of his initial workers' compensation claim. (R. p. 116) Lowe reached MMI and, after his initial claim concluded

per the August 28, 2012 Decision and Order of Commissioner Beck (R. p. 15-28), Lowe continued to treat with Dr. James Behr. (R. p. 117-297) Lowe had a subsequent, post-hearing award MRI scan of his lower back in August 2013, after his initial claim had concluded but within the one year time period following the last payment of compensation. (R. p. 115) Both Lowe's authorized treating doctor, Dr. James Behr, as well as an independent radiologist, Dr. Jason Kelly, reviewed the pre- and post-hearing award MRI scans and gave medical opinions to a reasonable degree of medical certainty that Lowe had in fact sustained a physical change of condition for the worse with regard to his lower back work-related injury. (R. p. 113-114) Those medical opinions were submitted to the Commission. However, as stated above for the foregoing reasons, the Commission dismissed Lowe's claim, finding that Lowe's change of condition for the worse claim was not timely filed and barred by the statute of limitations set forth in S.C. Code Ann. § 42-17-90(A)(2010).

ARGUMENT

I. THE WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION COMMITTED AN ERROR OF LAW BY FINDING AND CONCLUDING THAT APPELLANT'S CLAIM WAS BARRED BY THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS SET FORTH IN S.C. CODE ANN. § 42-17-90(A)(2010).

Lowe submits that his change of condition for the worse claim should not have been dismissed and that the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission's Decision and Order should be reversed because it is controlled by an error of law.

This Court can reverse or modify the decision of the Appellate Panel only if the substantial rights of the appellant have been prejudiced "because the decision is affected by an error of law or is clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial

evidence on the whole record.” See Wilson v. Charleston County School District, Opinion No. 5475, 798 S.E.2d 449 (Ct. App. 2017)(quoting Transp. Ins. Co. & Flagstar Corp. v. S.C. Second Injury Fund, 389 S.C. 422, 427, 699 S.E.2d 687, 689-90 (2010)).

“A change in condition occurs when the claimant experiences a change in physical condition as a result of her original injury, occurring after the first award.” Wilson at p. XX (quoting Gattis v. Murrells Inlet VFW No. 10420, 353 S.C. 100, 109, 576 S.E.2d 191, 196 (Ct. App. 2003)). The South Carolina statute governing change of condition claims is S.C. Code Ann. § 42-17-90 (2010). In pertinent part, it reads:

On its own motion or on the application of a party in interest on the ground of a change in condition, the commission may review an award and on that review may make an award ending, diminishing, or increasing the compensation previously awarded, on proof by a preponderance of the evidence that there has been a change of condition caused by the original injury, after the last payment of compensation. . . . **the review must not be made after twelve months from the date of the last payment of compensation pursuant to an award provided by this title.**

S.C. Code Ann. § 42-17-90(A)(2010)(emphasis added). The South Carolina Supreme Court has held that so long as the change of condition claim is filed with the Commission within the specified one year period, the actual hearing on the issue need not be heard during the one year. See Allen v. Benson Outdoor Adver. Co., 236 S.C. 22, 112 S.E.2d 722 (1960). In so doing, the Court approvingly quoted and adopted the following language from a West Virginia case:

‘The filing of a claim for further compensation within the statutory period and partial but not complete development thereof within such period, with loss of jurisdiction by the commissioner during the progress of the case, would be an absurd result which the legislature certainly did not have in mind, and we feel warranted in holding that the statute in question should be given a construction which permits the commissioner to hear and pass upon any application in writing for a further adjustment of a claim, if filed within the statutory period applicable to the nature of the claim filed.’

Allen, 112 S.E.2d at 726 (quoting Wilkins v. State Comp. Comm'r, 198 S.E. 871 (W.Va. 1938)).

By opinion filed March 22, 2017, the South Carolina Court of Appeals decided the case of Wilson v. Charleston County School District, Opinion No. 5475, 798 S.E.2d 449 (Ct. App. 2017). The Wilson case addresses the very issue raised by Lowe in this appeal. In Wilson, the Court of Appeals noted that Wilson filed a Form 50 timely, within one year after the date of the last payment of compensation, alleging a change of condition for the worse. Thereafter, outside of the one year time frame, Wilson filed a subsequent Form 50 requesting a hearing on her change of condition claim. The Court of Appeals stated:

Although Wilson did not file the subsequent Form 50 requesting a hearing on her change of condition claim until March 29, 2011, we find her January 6, 2009 Form 50 Notice of Claim alleging a change of condition satisfied the statute's plain and unambiguous requirement that such a claim be filed within the twelve-month deadline. As the Appellate Panel's contrary determination is controlled by an error of law, we reverse the circuit court's order affirming this finding.

Wilson at p. 458. The facts of the Wilson case are strikingly similar to the instant case. In Wilson, Wilson filed a Form 50 Notice of Claim within the one year time frame. She did not request a hearing. Subsequently, she filed a Form 50 Request For Hearing after the expiration of the one year statute of limitations. The Court of Appeals found that, so long as Wilson had filed a claim within the one year time frame, there was no statute of limitations violation. *See* Wilson at p. 458.

In the instant case, it is undisputed that Lowe filed a Form 50 Request For Hearing within the one year time frame. He then withdrew his hearing request as a matter of right pursuant to S.C. Workers' Compensation Regulation 67-609(2010). Subsequently, Lowe re-filed his Form 50 Request For Hearing after the expiration of the one year statute of limitations.

Lowe submits that he, like the claimant in the Wilson case, satisfied the one year statute of limitations filing requirement when he timely filed his July 3, 2013 Form 50 Request For Hearing within the one year allotted time frame following the last payment of compensation. According to the Wilson case, there is a “plain and unambiguous requirement that such a claim be filed within the twelve-month deadline.” Wilson at p. 458. As such, the first question that must be addressed is whether Lowe’s July 3, 2013 Form 50 Request For Hearing “filed a claim” within the twelve month deadline. According to S.C. Workers’ Compensation Regulation 67-207 (2010), the filing of a Form 50 Request For Hearing “files the claim.” (S.C. Workers’ Compensation Regulation 67-207 (2010)) Lowe submits that the question is answered in the affirmative, and his claim for a change of condition for the worse was timely filed within the twelve-month deadline.

As long as the claim was timely filed, the actual hearing on the issue of Lowe’s change of condition claim need not have been held within one year. *See Allen v. Benson Outdoor Adver. Co.*, 236 S.C. 22, 112 S.E.2d 722 (1960). Plus, according to the Wilson case, it is not statutorily required that Lowe’s physical change of condition for the worse occur entirely within the one year period after last payment of compensation so long as the claim was filed timely within one year. The Wilson Court stated that construction of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-17-90(A)(2010) in such a manner contrary to this would “impose a requirement upon claimants not intended by the Legislature.” Wilson at p. 457. Although, in the instant case, Lowe was actually able to show that his change of condition for the worse was in fact present during the one year time period, as his MRI showing the change of condition for the worse was taken in August 2013 (R. p. 115) and the one year statute

of limitations for filing Lowe's change of condition claim did not expire until October 2013. (R. p. 44)

In the instant case, the Commission found that, although Lowe had the right to withdraw his hearing request and re-file it at a later date, Lowe's Form 50 Request For Hearing of September 3, 2015 was untimely because it was required to be re-filed within the one year time period following the last payment of compensation. (R. p. 1-7) Essentially, the Commission said that Lowe was statutorily required to request the hearing on his change of condition for the worse claim within one year following the last payment of compensation. Lowe submits that this was legal error. The Wilson case states that this is a requirement that is not intended by the legislature and that the language of the statute requires that the "claim be filed prior to the twelve month deadline." Wilson at p. 458. It does not mandate that a hearing on the matter must be requested within the twelve months; rather, it requires that a claim be filed. *See* Wilson at pp. 458. In this case, Lowe did in fact file a claim prior to the twelve month deadline when he filed his Form 50 Request For Hearing on July 3, 2013.

Whether Lowe elected to withdraw his hearing request pursuant to S.C. Workers' Compensation Regulation 67-609 (2010), with leave to renew, and re-request the hearing at a later date does not change the fact that Lowe timely filed a claim when he filed his Form 50 Request For Hearing, alleging a change of condition for the worse on July 3, 2013, prior to the twelve month deadline. At that point in time, the twelve month statute of limitations requirement was satisfied. Lowe did not somehow "un-file" his claim when he elected to withdraw his hearing request as a matter of right, with leave to renew, pursuant

to S.C. Workers' Compensation Regulation 67-609 (2010).⁴ It is common practice for claimants to file their workers' compensation claims formally by way of a Form 50 Request For Hearing and, if necessary, withdraw their hearing request prior to the hearing. S.C. Workers' Compensation Regulation 67-609 (2010) specifically states that a Form 50 Request For Hearing "files the claim." Furthermore, when a claimant withdraws a hearing request and a notice is sent out by the Commission removing the case from the hearing docket, "[t]he notice is without prejudice to the claimant's right to proceed with his or her claim." S.C. Workers' Compensation Regulation 67-609(B) (2010). Nowhere in these applicable regulations does it indicate that withdrawing a hearing request as a matter of right, with leave to renew, "un-files" a workers' compensation claim such that the statute of limitations is no longer satisfied and begins to run again. To the contrary, Lowe would argue that it is the intent of the Commission, by promulgating the above regulations, to allow claimants to file their claims by use of the Form 50, whether they request a hearing or not, and to have free leave to remove their claim from the hearing docket if the claimant so chooses, without prejudice.

In Allen v. Benson Outdoor Advertising Co., regarding the one year change of condition statute of limitations, the Court stated, "[w]e have gone no further than to hold that the application for review must be made within one year after the last payment of compensation." Allen at p.30, 112 S.E.2d at 725-726.⁵ The Wilson Court applied that

⁴ The Form 50 is the claimant's mechanism for not only filing a workers' compensation claim, but also for requesting a hearing. This is true for a claimant's initial claim as well as for change of condition claims. Whether the Form 50 is for Notice Of Claim only, or a Request For Hearing, the end result is the same. A claim is filed, and the statute of limitations is satisfied. See S.C. Workers' Compensation regulations 67-206 and 67-207(2010). Again, this is true for a Claimant's initial claim as well as for change of condition claims.

⁵ Lowe submits that an "application for review" has been widely interpreted to mean the filing of a claim. The claimant's mechanism for filing a change of condition for the worse claim is the Form 50, whether it be for Notice of Claim only or a Request For Hearing. There is no workers' compensation form specific to

holding when it found that Wilson's change of condition for the worse claim was not barred by the statute of limitations because Wilson "satisfied the statute's plain and unambiguous requirement that such a claim be filed within the twelve-month deadline." Wilson at p. 458.