THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Appellate Case No. 2017-000753

Donnie Lowe, Employee, Claimant, Appellant,

v.

BMW Manufacturing Corporation, Employer, and Hartford Ins. Co. of the Midwest c/o
Sedgwick Claims Management Services, Inc., Carrier, Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Brad B. Easterling, S.C. Bar No. 70328
McAngus, Goudelock & Courie LLC
Post Office Box 2980
55 East Camperdown Way, Suite 300 (29601)
Greenville, South Carolina 29602
(864) 239-4000

Attorney for Respondents

12/12/17
12/12/17
Sedgwick Claims Management Services, Inc.

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

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

ARGUMENT

I. The Appellate Panel did not err in dismissing this claim for a change of condition because it was not properly filed within the one-year statute of limitations provided in Section 42-17-90(A).

Respondents assert that the Appellate Panel did not err in dismissing this claim for a change of condition because it was not properly filed within the one-year statute of limitations provided in Section 42-17-90(A).

A change in condition occurs when the claimant experiences a change in physical condition as a result of her original injury, occurring after the first award. Generally, an appeal of a workers' compensation order is concerned with the conditions prior to and at the time of the original award of the commission. Review for a change of condition is concerned with conditions that have arisen thereafter. The determination of whether a claimant experiences a change of condition is a question for the fact finder.

Russell v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 415 S.C. 395, 399, 782 S.E.2d 753, 755 (Ct. App. 2016)

(internal citations and quotation marks omitted).

Under South Carolina Code Section 42-17-90(A), a review for a change of condition must be made within “[12] months from the date of the last payment of compensation pursuant to an award provided by this title.” Moreover, “[i]n a claim involving a change of condition, the moving party must attach to the hearing request form a medical report(s) indicating a change in the claimant’s condition.” S.C. Code Ann. Regs. § 67-602(C).

The Supreme Court of South Carolina has strictly construed the one-year limitation provided by Section 42-17-90(A) and held that claims filed more than one year after the date of last payment of compensation are procedurally barred. *See Wallace v. Campbell Limestone Co.*, 198 S.C. 196, 203, 17 S.E.2d 309, 311-12 (1941) (finding a claim was barred under the predecessor to Section 42-17-90(A) when it was filed more than one year after the date of last payment of compensation).

In *Wallace*, the claimant was awarded medical and indemnity benefits for an injury to his left leg, the last payment of which was made on June 7, 1937. *Id.* On June 15, 1940, he claimed an additional award for disfigurement. *Id.* at 198-99, 17 S.E.2d at 310. The Supreme Court held the claimant’s request for additional benefits was untimely because it was filed more than three years after the date of last payment of compensation. The Court cited the predecessor to Section 42-17-90, which provided identical language as the current language of Section 42-17-90, noting “no such review shall be made after twelve months from the date of the last payment of compensation” The Court specifically stated, “[t]he conclusiveness of [this statute] is inescapable.” *Id.* at 201, 17 S.E.2d at 311. The Court further noted that “[s]uch statutes apply with full force to the most meritorious claims.” *Id.* at 203, 17 S.E.2d at 311-12 (citing *Rudd v. Fairforest Finishing Co.*, 189 S.C. 188, 200 S.E.2d 727, 730 (1939) (“While we should give the

Compensation Act a liberal construction, we are not justified in so construing it as to do violence to a specific requirement of the Act.”). Thus, the Supreme Court dismissed the claimant’s request for additional benefits because it was not filed within the one-year limitation provided by the predecessor to Section 42-17-90.

Respondents assert that *Wallace* illustrates that the Appellate Panel correctly found Appellant’s request for a change of condition was untimely. Here, Respondents paid Appellant \$65,239.95 on October 3, 2012, representing 105 weeks of permanent partial disability pursuant to Commissioner Beck’s Order. Under the one-year limitation prescribed by Section 42-17-90(A), Appellant had to file a review for a change of condition within twelve months “from the date of last payment of compensation” or October 3, 2013. Although Appellant’s Form 50 was filed on July 3, 2013, he later withdrew his hearing request on October 7, 2013. He then refiled his Form 50 on September 3, 2015—nearly three years after the “date of last payment of compensation.” Although Appellant has leave to refile the Form 50 pursuant to Regulation 67-609 of the South Carolina Code, he did not do so within the one-year time limitation prescribed by Section 42-17-90. Because Appellant’s Form 50 was not refiled until well after the one-year period in Section 42-17-90 had expired, Respondents assert that the Appellate Panel correctly dismissed the claim.

Appellant, however, argues that because the original Form 50 was filed within one year of the date of last payment of compensation, the statute of limitations was tolled and his claim was timely filed. He relies on the case of *Allen v. Benson Outdoor Advertising Company*, 236 S.C. 22, 112 S.E.2d 722 (1960). Respondents submit that Appellant’s reliance on *Allen* is misplaced.

In *Allen*, the issue was whether the Commission had jurisdiction to hear a change of

condition claim, which, although timely requested, was not *heard* within one year of the date of last payment of compensation. *Id.* at 29, 112 S.E.2d at 725. Because the application for review was filed within one year of the date of last payment of compensation, the Supreme Court held that the Commission had jurisdiction to hear the claim. *Id.* at 31, 112 S.E.2d at 726.

Respondents respectfully assert that *Allen* is inapposite to the case at bar. Here, the issue is not whether the claim was *heard* within one year, but whether Appellant properly *filed* his application for review within one year. Moreover, the claimant in *Allen* actually had evidence supporting his change of condition within the one-year period unlike this case where Appellant waited until nearly two years after the statute of limitations expired to present evidence supporting a change of condition. 236 S.C. at 28, 112 S.E.2d at 725. More importantly, in *Allen*, unlike this case, the delay in hearing the case was attributable to a crowded docket, inaction by the Commission, or other factors outside of the claimant's control. *See id.* at 30, 112 S.E.2d at 725-26 ("An application might be seasonably made but due to crowded dockets or other causes could not be heard within the statutory period. Nor could it have been reasonably intended that the Industrial Commission intended that *the Industrial Commission by inaction* could in effect destroy its jurisdiction to hear an application timely filed." (emphasis added)). That is entirely different from the case at bar where the approximately two-year delay in refiling the claim was due to *Appellant's inaction* as a result of having no evidence to support a change of condition for the worse.

Appellant relies on the following language from *Allen* in support of his argument that by filing his original Form 50 within the one-year limitation period, he effectively tolled the statute of limitations:

The filing of a claim for further compensation within the statutory period and *partial but not complete development thereof within such period*, with loss of jurisdiction by the commissioner during the progress of the case, would be all absurd result which the legislature certainly did not have in mind, and we feel warranted in holding that the statute in question should be given a construction which permits the commissioner to hear and pass upon any application in writing for a further adjustment of a claim, if filed within the statutory period applicable to the nature of the claim filed."

Id. at 30, 112 S.E.2d at 726.

Respondents assert that the facts in *Allen* indicate that the Supreme Court was referring to "partial . . . development" of the claim by the Commission as opposed to the claimant. The crux of the holding in *Allen* is that a claimant should not be penalized for the Commission's delay in holding a timely hearing on an otherwise timely-filed claim. In short, the policy implications in *Allen* are not present here and *Allen* is clearly distinguishable from the present case.

Appellant next argues that his original Form 50 timely filed his change of condition claim because S.C. Code Regulation 67-207 "specifically states that filing a Form 50 satisfies the claim requirement." (App. Br. 6). Appellant never raised this argument in his pre-hearing brief or at the hearing before the single commissioner. Therefore, Respondents assert that this issue is not preserved for this Court's review. See *Jones v. Anderson Cotton Mills*, 205 S.C. 247, 256-57, 31 S.E.2d 447, 450 (1944) (finding an issue could not be addressed for the first time before the Appellate Panel where it was not raised to nor ruled on by the single commissioner). Regardless,

Respondents assert that even if Appellant's July 3, 2013 Form 50 originally did file a claim, his subsequent withdrawal of the Form 50 served as a withdrawal of his claim, and he was required under Section 42-17-90 to refile the Request for a Hearing within one year of the date of last payment of compensation. Because he failed to do so, the Appellate Panel properly dismissed the claim as untimely.

Much of Appellant's brief focuses on the recent case of *Sarah Y. Wilson v. Charleston County School District*, 798 S.E.2d 449, Op. No. 5475 (Shearouse Adv. Sh. No. 12 at 13) (S.C. Ct. App. filed Mar. 22, 2017), *petition for rehearing pending*. In *Wilson*, the claimant suffered a work-related injury to her back and neck. *Id.* at 451. She thereafter sought permanent and total disability benefits at a hearing. *Id.* The single commissioner awarded her 45% PPD to the back. *Id.* The Form 19 reflecting the date of last payment of compensation was filed January 25, 2008, and an Amended Form 19 signed by the claimant was filed May 7, 2008. *Id.* She then filed a Form 50, Not Requesting a Hearing on January 6, 2009, alleging a change of condition for the worse. *Id.* On March 29, 2011, she then filed a Form 50 Request for Hearing. *Id.* The Appellate Panel found the claimant failed to prove a compensable change of condition. *Id.* at 452. Specifically, the Appellate Panel found "no doctor has opined that the Claimant's work related depression began after October 2, 2007, or worsened between January 25, 2008 and January 25, 2009." Thus, it concluded Wilson "failed to meet her burden of establishing the change of her condition necessary to satisfy the timing requirements of Section 42-17-90(A) and Allen." *Id.* at 457. The circuit court affirmed these rulings. *Id.* at 452.

Citing *Allen*, the claimant argued that "as long as a change of condition claim is filed by the proper deadline, it can encompass a problem still in the process of turning serious." *Id.* at 457. The employer argued that this court should affirm the denial of benefits because the change

of condition did not occur within one year of the date of the last payment of compensation. *Id.* The Court of Appeals reversed, noting it would not accept a “construction of [Section 42-17-90], which seeks to impose a requirement upon claimants not intended by the Legislature.” *Id.* The Court reasoned that:

Although Wilson did not file the subsequent Form 50 requesting a hearing on her change of condition claim until March 29, 2011, we find her January 6, 2009 Form 50 Notice of Claim alleging a change of condition satisfied the statute's plain and unambiguous requirement that such a claim be filed within the twelve month deadline. As the Appellate Panel's contrary determination is controlled by an error of law, we reverse the circuit court's order affirming this finding.

Id. at 458.

Respondents would respectfully assert that *Wilson* is distinguishable from the present case. Notably, according to the Court of Appeals' opinion, the claimant's “psychological condition worsened at some point after the initial hearing and prior to her filing of the January 6, 2009 Form 50 alleging the change of condition.” *Id.* at 455. Thus it appears that, in *Wilson*, the claimant presented evidence within one year of the date of last payment of compensation showing a change of condition. That is not the case here. As previously stated, Dr. Behr testified approximately eleven months after the “date of the last payment of compensation” that Appellant had not suffered an objective change of condition. Although Appellant included a medical questionnaire from Dr. Behr that supported a change of condition, that questionnaire was rebutted by Dr. Behr's later testimony that Appellant had not suffered a change of condition.

Alternatively, should the Court find *Wilson* controlling, we would respectfully request oral argument in which to argue against precedent. A review of the South Carolina Worker's Compensation Act and applicable Regulations demonstrates a legislative intent that a change of condition actually occur within one year of the date of last payment of compensation. In addition to Section 42-17-90(A), South Carolina Code Regulation 67-602(C) provides that, "[i]n a claim involving a change of condition, the moving party must attach to the hearing request form a medical report(s) indicating a change in the claimant's condition." Respondents would submit that requiring a claimant to submit evidence "indicating a change in the claimant's condition" at the time of filing a change of condition indicates that the change of condition need actually occur within the one-year period. This interpretation is further supported by numerous decisions from the Appellate Panel, which have consistently held that Regulation 67-602(C) requires a claimant to attach medical evidence supporting a change of condition to her hearing request in order to properly file a claim for a change of condition. *See e.g., Weiss v. Sea Island Painters*, LEXIS 1 (Full Commission May 5, 1999) ("Regulation 67-602(c) requires that the Claimant attach a medical certificate with the Form 50 when he files a change of condition in order to perfect a claim."); *Richardson v. Pine Grove School*, LEXIS 325 (Full Commission May 25, 2001) ("The filing of a Form 50 . . . constitutes a request for review if there exists bona fide medical evidence supporting the Claimant's position a change of condition has occurred." (emphasis added)); *Sligh v. Hanson Briack America*, LEXIS 198 (Full Commission Oct. 19, 2010) ("Regulation 67-602 (C) provides that when a Form 50, Hearing Request, for a change of condition for the worse is filed, the moving party must attach to the hearing request form a medical report(s) indicating the change in the claimant's condition.").

Moreover, the Appellate Panel has dismissed change of condition claims when the

claimant failed to attach a medical report to the hearing request providing a change of condition. *See e.g., Miller v. BMW Manufacturing Corp.*, LEXIS 76 (Full Commission April 3, 2013) (dismissing a change of condition as barred when none of the medical records attached to his hearing request “established, as required by Regulation 67-602(C) that Claimant had actually experienced a change of condition for the worse”); *Fetherson v. Northern Tool & Equipment*, LEXIS 220 (Full Commission Nov. 26, 2013) (“The claimant failed to attach supporting medical documentation indicating a change of condition on her Form 50 filed with the Commission which is required by the Act.” (emphasis added)); *Dunbar v. Gallman Personnel Services, Inc.*, LEXIS 163 (Single Commissioner Nov. 16, 1998), *affirmed by* LEXIS 878 (Full Commission April 1, 1999) (dismissing a change of condition claim because “[u]nder Regulation 67-602 (C), the Form 50 claiming additional benefits based on an alleged change of condition for the worse and requesting a hearing is defective in that it did not attach a medical certificate stating that the claimant had sustained a change of condition”).